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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

SUMMARY ORDER

Present:

PIERRE N. LEVAL,

GUIDO CALABRESI,

DEBRA ANN LIVINGSTON,
Circuit Judges.

JUNE HARPER,
Plaintiff-Appellant, 17-1995-cv
V.

DETECTIVE ARTHUR LEAHY, SHIELD NO. 01783,
DETECTIVE DANIEL KIRK, SHIELD NO. 11290,
DETECTIVE CHRISTOPHER TEHAN, SHIELD NO. 29544,
DETECTIVE CHING NIEH, SHIELD NO. 27,

C1TY OF NEW YORK,

Defendants-Appellees,
POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE,
Defendant.

Appeal from a judgment of the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of New York (Cogan, J.)
entered May 31, 2017.

UPON DUE CONSIDERATION, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the
judgment of the district court is AFFIRMED.
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Plaintiff-Appellant June Harper appeals from a
May 31, 2017 judgment of the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of New York granting
Defendants-Appellees’ motion for summary judgment.
Plaintiff-Appellant’s claims arise out of the attempted
arrest of her son, Kedar Harper, by the defendant po-
lice officers at approximately 7:00 a.m., at 910 Caton
Avenue, Apartment 52, in Brooklyn, New York (the
“Apartment”). On appeal, Plaintiff-Appellant contends
that genuine disputes of material fact precluded the
district court from concluding that, at the time of the
attempted arrest, the officers had reason to believe
that Kedar resided and was present at the Apartment.
We assume the parties’ familiarity with the underlying
facts, the procedural history of the case, and the issues
on appeal.

We review de novo a district court’s grant of sum-
mary judgment, “construing all the evidence in the
light most favorable to the non-movant and drawing all
reasonable inferences in that party’s favor.” McBride v.
BIC Consumer Prod. Mfg. Co., Inc., 583 F.3d 92, 96 (2d
Cir. 2009). We affirm only where “the movant shows
that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact
and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “The non-moving party may
not rely on conclusory allegations or unsubstantiated
speculation.” Scotto v. Almenas, 143 F.3d 105, 114 (2d
Cir. 1998) (citation omitted).

“[Aln arrest warrant . . . implicitly carries with it
the limited authority to enter a dwelling in which the
suspect lives when there i1s reason to believe the sus-
pect is within.” Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 603
(1980). “Agents may enter a suspect’s residence, or
what they have reason to believe is his residence, in
order to effectuate an arrest warrant where a reasona-
ble belief exists that the suspect is present.” United
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States v. Lauter, 57 F.3d 212, 214 (2d Cir. 1995). “[T]he
proper inquiry is whether there is a reasonable belief
that the suspect resides at the place to be entered to
execute an arrest warrant, and whether the officers
have reason to believe that the suspect is present.” Id.
at 215 (emphasis in original). “[O]ur reason-to-believe
review here does not demand probable cause,” it in-
stead “requires more than a hunch as to presence, but
less than a probability. As with reasonable suspicion,
reason to believe is not a particularly high standard
....7 United States v. Bohannon, 824 F.3d 242, 254,
255 (2d Cir. 2016). To satisfy this not particularly high
standard, the officers need only “have a basis for a rea-
sonable belief as to the operative facts, not that they
acquire all available information or that those facts ex-
1st.” United States v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d 339, 344 (2d
Cir. 1999). Our precedents have “rejected the conten-
tion that the police must first conduct a thorough in-
vestigation to obtain evidence of an arrestee’s actual
presence before entering his residence.” United States
v. Terry, 702 F.2d 299, 319 (2d Cir. 1983).

Upon review, we conclude that the district court
properly granted Defendants-Appellees’ motion for
summary judgment. When “[v]iewed in their totality
and in a commonsense manner,” the undisputed facts
in the record provided the officers with reason to be-
lieve that Kedar would be present at the Apartment at
the time of the attempted arrest. Bohannon, 824 F.3d
at 257. Notably, there is no dispute that less than sev-
en months before the attempted arrest, a New York
City Criminal Court judge issued a bench warrant for
Kedar’s arrest, specifying the Apartment as his resi-
dence. It is also uncontested that at least three sepa-
rate police department records identified the Apart-
ment as Kedar’s address. Additionally, police searches
of numerous (at least eight) computerized databases
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uncovered no other residential addresses for Kedar.!
Moreover, the morning of the arrest, Plaintiff-Appel-
lant was present at the Apartment and acknowledged
that she was Kedar’s mother, further supporting the
officers’ reasonable belief that Kedar would be present.
Likewise, the 7:00 a.m. time of the attempted arrest
provided the officers with still more reason to believe
that Kedar would be present at his residence. See Ter-
ry, 702 F.2d at 319 (“[T]he agents arrived at the
apartment at 8:45 A.M. on a Sunday morning, a time
when they could reasonably believe that Terry would
be home.”). “Viewed in their totality and in a com-
monsense manner,” Bohannon, 824 F.3d at 257, these
undisputed facts provided the officers with ample rea-
son to believe that Kedar would be present at the
Apartment at the time of the attempted arrest.

To be sure, during the attempted arrest Plaintiff-
Appellant told the officers that her son was not at the
Apartment and Plaintiff-Appellant now challenges the
district court’s crediting police testimony that the offic-
ers heard a male voice inside the Apartment. However,
in light of the undisputed evidence detailed above and
Bohannon’s admonition that “reason to believe is not a
particularly high standard,” id. at 255, a mother’s
comment to the police regarding her son’s whereabouts
and any dispute as to the source of any voices that the
officers may have heard are insufficient, under the to-
tality of the circumstances, to overcome the officers’
reasonable belief that Kedar would be present at the
Apartment. See id. at 257 (explaining that “segmenta-
tion and minimization of individual pieces of evidence
fail to conform to the principles of reason-to-believe re-

1 The fact that the officers found evidence of the association of
Kedar with another nearby address did not undermine the several
records showing 910 Caton Avenue as his residence.
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view”). Because no reasonable jury could find on this
record — including the bench warrant, police depart-
ment records, Plaintiff-Appellant’s own admissions,
and the time of the attempted arrest —that the officers
lacked a reasonable belief that Kedar resided and was
present at the Apartment, we must conclude that the
district court did not err in awarding Defendants-
Appellees summary judgment.

We have considered all of Plaintiff-Appellant’s re-
maining arguments and find them to be without merit.
Accordingly, we AFFIRM the judgment of the district
court.

FOR THE COURT
Catherine O’'Hagan Wolfe, Clerk of Court
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

JUNE HARPER,
Plaintiff,
- against -
DETECTIVE ARTHUR LEAHY; DETECTIVE
DANIEL KIRK; DETECTIVE CHRISTOPHER

TEHAN; DETECTIVE CHING NIEH; THE CITY OF
NEW YORK; POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER
16-cv-4178 (BMC)

COGAN, District Judge.

When police tried to enter the home of a suspect to
execute an arrest warrant, the suspect’s mother re-
fused to let them in. She physically blocked the officers’
entry into the home and the police had to pull her out
of the way to get by her, at which time she tried to kick
one of the officers. When the officers tried to handcuff
her for interfering, she resisted arrest by screaming,
kicking her legs, and flailing her arms.

The arrest warrant gave the officers the right to
enter the suspect’s home to see if he was there, and
any force the police used to get past and then subdue
his mother was de minimis and thus reasonable under
the circumstances. Accordingly, the officers are entitled
to summary judgment on the mother’s claims under 42
U.S.C. § 1983 for false arrest and excessive force.

BACKGROUND
The following facts are undisputed.
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Defendant Arthur Leahy (“Det. Leahy”), a detective
with the Warrant Squad of the New York Police De-
partment, was assigned to the investigation of a bur-
glary suspect named Kedar Harper. His specific task
was to follow up on an investigation card, known as an
“I-card.” The I-card listed Harper as residing at 910
Caton Avenue, Apt. 52, Brooklyn (the “subject premis-
es”). Leahy ran several computer searches in an effort
to get information concerning Harper. Specifically, he
did a general online search for information and found
nothing. He also checked the New York City Depart-
ment of Corrections database and found that Harper
was not in custody. He further checked to see if he was
on parole or probation; both checks came back nega-
tive. He also checked the database for the Narcotics
Investigative Tracking of Recidivist Offenders (“NI-
TRO”) and didn’t find anything on Harper in that da-
tabase either. Det. Leahy read all of the DD-5s (police
reports) in connection with the investigation of Harper,
but they did not disclose any additional information
apart from the I-card.

He also searched what is known as the ADW, a da-
tabase that compiles an individual’s I-card and war-
rant history. One of the sources from which ADW pulls
information 1s another database called CRIMS, which
1s populated and maintained by the New York State
Unified Court System.! The CRIMS database identifies
outstanding warrants based on the name of a defend-
ant or his case number.

1 Ttis not entirely clear from Det. Leahy’s affidavit, but this may
be a database also known as “webcrims,” https://iapps.courts.-
state.ny.us/webcrim_attorney/AttorneyWelcome, which makes in-
formation on criminal cases, both historical and upcoming ap-
pearances, available to attorneys, defendants, and members of the
public.
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The ADW database disclosed an outstanding bench
warrant for Harper’s arrest that the New York City
Criminal Court had issued about six months prior to
Leahy’s involvement in this matter. Like his I-card, the
warrant showed Harper residing at the subject premis-
es, although it did not list an apartment number. It al-
so contained Harper’s picture.

Although not known to Det. Leahy with certainty
at the time, Harper was indeed living at the subject
premises. In fact, he had lived there with his mother
his entire life, except the times during which he had
been incarcerated.

One morning at about 7:00 a.m., Det. Leahy went
to the subject address with defendant detectives Kirk,
Tehan, and Nieh to arrest Harper. They knocked on
the door and plaintiff, who is Harper’s mother, an-
swered. Det. Leahy heard a male voice inside. He
asked plaintiff if Harper was there and plaintiff said he
was “not home.” She confirmed that Harper was her
son and when shown the arrest warrant with his pic-
ture on it, she further confirmed that the warrant was
for Harper. When Det. Leahy told plaintiff that they
were going to enter the premises and look for him,
plaintiff asked to review the warrant. Det. Leahy
handed plaintiff the warrant and permitted her to close
the apartment door to retrieve her glasses and, after
returning, to review it.

Plaintiff expressed the view that the arrest war-
rant did not give the police the right to enter the
apartment and started to close the door. Det. Leahy in-
serted his foot or himself to stop the door from closing
and he pulled plaintiff out of the apartment by her arm
so he could get in. One of the other detectives took her
arm behind her back to place handcuffs on her and
plaintiff kicked at him. Plaintiff acknowledges that
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from that point on she fought vigorously to prevent the
police from handcuffing her — yelling, screaming, kick-
ing and flailing her arms — but ultimately, defendants
overpowered her and placed her in handcuffs.

Plaintiff went to trial on charges of resisting arrest
and obstruction of governmental administration and
was acquitted.

DISCUSSION
I. False Arrest

One fundamental legal point drives the outcome of
plaintiff’s claim for false arrest — if police officers have
a reasonable belief that a person subject to an arrest
warrant may be in his home, they have the right to en-
ter to see if the suspect is there and attempt to make
the arrest. See Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 603
(1980) (“[A]n arrest warrant founded on probable cause
1mplicitly carries with it the limited authority to enter
a dwelling in which the suspect lives when there is
reason to believe the suspect is within”). Moreover, the
location into which police enter to execute an arrest
warrant need not actually be the suspect’s home, nor
do the police require probable cause to believe it is his
home; the police need only “reasonably believe” that it
1s his home. “Agents may enter a suspect’s residence,
or what they have reason to believe is his residence, in
order to effectuate an arrest warrant where a reasona-
ble belief exists that the suspect is present.” U.S. v.
Lauter, 57 F.3d 212, 214 (2d Cir. 1995). I do not see
how any jury could find that the officers in this case
lacked a reasonable belief that plaintiff lived in the
subject premises and might be in it.

Plaintiffs argument to the contrary is largely
based on her claim that the arrest warrant was facially
defective and thus did not give the police the right to
enter the residence to affect the arrest. It was facially
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defective because, according to plaintiff: (1) it was
signed by the Clerk, not a Judge; (2) it did not state
that the warrant was issued pursuant to a determina-
tion of probable cause on the face of the warrant; and
(3) it did not expressly authorize the police to enter the
premises listed on the warrant. As a result of these al-
leged deficiencies, plaintiff reasons that her arrest fol-
lowed from illegal conduct by the police and thus her
conduct cannot constitute probable cause for her arrest
since she was merely defending herself from illegal
conduct.

Although I of course understand plaintiff herself
not being well versed in the law, it is hard to under-
stand how plaintiff’s counsel can advance these points
on her behalf, as they are frivolous. What appears to
have happened is that plaintiff told her counsel that
she didn’t think the police could enter her home be-
cause the warrant didn’t say they could. As she testi-
fied, “Yeah, they said they don't have a search warrant,
but this warrant that we have allow us to come into
your apartment. But I know better than that.” In fact,
plaintiff didn’t know better; she just thought she did.
But instead of explaining to his client that her view of
the law was mistaken, plaintiff’s counsel inexplicably
decided to run with it.

Defendants were executing a bench warrant. Bench
warrants are issued because a judge sees with his or
her own eyes that a defendant has failed to appear in
court despite being summoned thereto. Because the
failure to appear in itself is a crime or a contempt of
court subjecting the defendant to arrest, a bench war-
rant is necessarily based on probable cause. See N.Y.
Crim. Proc. L. § 1.20(30) (“The function of a bench war-
rant is to achieve the court appearance of a defendant
in a pending criminal action for some purpose other
than his initial arraignment in the action.”).



11a

When a defendant fails to appear, the Judge simply
turns to the Clerk and says, “issue a warrant,” and, in
state court practice, the Clerk signs the warrant under
authority of the Judge. The probable cause is obvious
because it happened in the presence of the Judge. And
courts obviously must have power to bring those people
before them who have chosen not to appear when
summoned, or else nothing could compel a summoned
defendant to appear.

Plaintiff cites no authority for the proposition that
the Judge must not only direct the issuance of the war-
rant, but personally sign it, at least where, as here,
there is no allegation that the Clerk acted wultra vires.
The Supreme Court has squarely rejected plaintiff’s
argument. See Shadwick v. City of Tampa, 407 U.S.
345, 352 (1972) (holding that clerks of the court may
1ssue warrants pursuant to state statutes granting
such authority); N.Y.C. Crim. Ct. Act § 23(a) (authoriz-
ing Clerks of the New York City Criminal Court to is-
sue judicial process). Acceptance of plaintiff’s argument
would lead to the invalidation of every bench warrant
issued by the York City Criminal Court. No experi-
enced practitioner could advance the argument that
plaintiff’s lawyer has advanced here.

Plaintiff similarly cites no authority for the propo-
sition that the warrant must show on its that a judge
made a determination of probable cause. That is simply
not the case. “[A]ll an arrest warrant must do is identi-
fy the person sought.” Lauter, 57 F.3d at 215. In the
case of an ordinary arrest warrant, the required proba-
ble cause has to be shown in the ex parte application to
the magistrate judge, which may be either oral or writ-
ten, but there is no constitutional requirement that the
1ssuing magistrate judge make a statement on the face
of the warrant that he has found probable cause. In-
deed, the official form for a federal arrest warrant con-
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tains no such statement. See Administrative Office of
the United States Courts, Form 442 (Arrest Warrant).
Moreover, in the case of a bench warrant, as noted,
even an external showing by written or oral application
1s unnecessary because the judge has seen the offense —
i.e., the defendant failed to answer the calendar call.

Plaintiff’'s other point, that an arrest warrant
grants no right of entry for purposes of execution un-
less it 1s expressly provided on the face of the warrant,
1s defeated by the well-established case law cited
above.

The only other point plaintiff raises is that the in-
formation as to Harper’s address on the bench warrant
and the I-card was “stale” as Det. Leahy did not know
the provenance of that information. There is some iro-
ny in this argument considering that not only were the
subject premises, in fact, Harper’s home, but they were
the only home that he had ever known. But even put-
ting aside that reality, as obviously we cannot use
hindsight in measuring the reasonableness of the Det.
Leahy’s belief at the time, he had plenty of corrobora-
tive evidence to form the belief that turned out to be
correct.

First, Det. Leahy had searched multiple databases
to find Harper, and the address of the subject premises
was the only address that came up. Second, the court
had issued the warrant, containing the address of the
subject premises, only six months earlier. Third, the
woman who answered the door — plaintiff — identified
herself as Harper’s mother, as far from a stranger as
one could get, and further identified that the warrant
was for her son. This was at least circumstantial evi-
dence that the address that was listed in the database
for him was correct. Fourth, plaintiff specifically stated
to the officers that Harper was “not at home,” thus con-
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firming that he did in fact live there.2 Fifth, the officers
heard a male voice inside when they knocked on the
door, which gave them reason to believe that Harper
might be inside. And, in any event, the Second Circuit
has “rejected the contention that the police must first
conduct a thorough investigation to obtain evidence of
an arrestee’s actual presence before entering his resi-
dence.” U.S. v. Terry, 702 F.2d 299, 319 (2d Cir. 1983)
(citing United States v. Manley, 632 F.2d 978, 984 (2d
Cir. 1980)). Sixth, when a suspect’s mother says that
he is “not at home” at 7 a.m., only the most naive police
officer would accept that statement at face value, be-
cause if a suspect’s mother will not dissemble for him,
who will?

Significantly, although plaintiff refers to the police
inquiry into Harper’s residence as “lackluster,” she
nowhere offers any suggestions for what more they
should have done. This may be because the reality is,
as noted above, that anything more would have led
them to the same address.

Once it is clear that the police did nothing wrong in
seeking entry into the subject premises to attempt to
execute the arrest warrant, plaintiff’s false arrest claim
collapses. Plaintiff does not deny that after inspecting
the warrant, she refused to admit defendants and
sought to close the door on them. She also does not de-
ny that when Det. Leahy pulled her into the hallway so

2 Plaintiff denies that she stated that Harper was “not home,” de-
spite admitting to saying these exact words during her deposition.
In her deposition, plaintiff first testified that she informed Det.
Leahy that Harper was “not there.” However, later in the deposi-
tion, plaintiff clarified that she told Det. Leahy that Harper
“wasn’t home.” When defense counsel followed up with plaintiff
and asked, “Those are the words you used, he is not home?” plain-
tiff responded, “Yes.”
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he could get in, she tried to kick one of the other offic-
ers. She acknowledges that she fought tooth and nail to
avoid being placed in handcuffs, to the point where the
police had to lift and carry her down the stairs kicking
and screaming. We do not need to spend any time dis-
cussing whether her conduct constituted obstruction of
government administration, resisting arrest, assault-
ing a police officer, or other crimes. There was plenty of
probable cause to arrest her for something, and that
ends her claim for false arrest.

I1I. Excessive Force

Determining whether the force applied to effect an
arrest rises to the level of “excessive force,” as plaintiff
claims it does here, requires a consideration of whether
the force used was “reasonable” under the Fourth
Amendment given the facts and circumstances of the
particular case. Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 395-
97 (1989). “Not every push or shove, even if it may lat-
er seem unnecessary in the peace of a judge’s cham-
bers, violates the Fourth Amendment.” Id. The “rea-
sonableness” standard is an objective one considered
from the perspective of a “reasonable officer on the sce-
ne.” Id. The standard does not require police officers to
use the “least restrictive means of responding to an ex-
1gent situation; they need only act within the range of
conduct [the law identifies] as reasonable.” Scott v.
Henrich, 39 F.3d 912, 915 (9th Cir. 1994); see also 1lli-
nois v. Lafayette, 462 U.S. 640, 647 (1983).

In Graham, the Supreme Court noted a number of
non-exclusive factors that can be used to determine
whether an excessive force claim presents a triable is-
sue: (1) the nature and severity of the crime leading to
the arrest, (2) whether the suspect posed an immediate
threat to the safety of the officer or others, and (3)
whether the suspect was actively resisting arrest or at-
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tempting to evade arrest by flight. 490 U.S. at 396. The
standard is one of “objective reasonableness.” Id. at
399. In making that assessment, I have to consider the
officers’ need to make “split-second judgments — in cir-
cumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly
evolving — about the amount of force that is necessary
in a particular situation.” Id. at 397. I am to view the
situation “from the perspective of a reasonable officer
on the scene, rather than with the 20/20 vision of hind-
sight.” Id. at 396. In addition, although not dispositive,
many courts have accepted the common-sense notion
that in considering whether force is excessive, one oth-
er factor is the severity of any injuries that the plaintiff
has sustained. See, e.g., Perez v. Ponte, No 16-cv-645,
2017 WL 1047258, at *18 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 14, 2017);
Cruz v. City of New York, No. 15 Civ. 2265, 2017 WL
544588, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 8, 2017); Frego v. Kelsick,
No. 11-CV-5462, 2015 WL 4728922, at *9 (E.D.N.Y.
Aug. 10, 2015); Evans v. Solomon, 681 F. Supp. 2d 233,
252 (E.D.N.Y. 2010); Garcia v. Greco, No. 05 Civ. 9587,
2010 WL 446446, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 9, 2010); Phelps
v. Szubinski, 577 F. Supp. 2d 650, 663 (E.D.N.Y. 2008);
Bradley v. Village of Greenwood Lake, 376 F. Supp. 2d
528, 535 n. 4 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).

Plaintiff does not undertake much effort to defend
her excessive force claim in opposing defendants’ mo-
tion for summary judgment. Her position is predicated
entirely on the alleged illegality of the officers’ attempt
to enter the subject premises. In other words, her posi-
tion is that since the police had no right to execute the
warrant by entering the premises, they had no right to
use any force to move her out of the way when she
blocked the entrance and attempted to close the door
on them. As described above, the police did have the
right to execute the warrant, and thus plaintiff’s at-
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tempt to obstruct them from their task permitted them
to use reasonable force to complete it.

In any event, based on plaintiff’s description of the
amount of force used, no reasonable jury could find it
excessive. First of all, some force had to be used be-
cause plaintiff was closing the door in the officers’ faces
and refusing to let them enter. As plaintiff testified,
“[wlhen they realize I won’t let them in, so Leahy
yanks me out.” In other words, Det. Leahy did not pull
her out until he realized that she wasn’t going to let
him in. The only responsive force was to pull her by the
upper arm out of the doorway so that the police could
get in, and as Det. Leahy was attempting to do so,
plaintiff grabbed on to the doorknob to stop him, which
required more force to dislodge her.

Her conduct at that point was sufficient to place
her under arrest, and that, in turn, required putting
her arm behind her back at a small enough angle so
that she could not extract it while being handcuffed.
Plaintiff testified that putting her arm behind her
caused her pain, and indeed it is theoretically possible
to break a suspect’s arm or dislocate a suspect’s shoul-
der by an excessively applied arm-bar, but, in fact,
there was no damage. Police officers cannot be ex-
pected to instantaneously calculate the degree of a re-
sisting suspect’s flexibility and move the arm to just
enough, but no less, of an angle to thwart resistance
and permit handcuffing.

In any event, by that point plaintiff had started a
melee, kicking at the officers and doing everything she
could to prevent them from taking her into custody.
And of course the police do not have to stand there and
be pummeled. As plaintiff testified:

They [were] trying to put handcuffs [on me].
Before the handcuffs they were trying to put
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the handcuffs on me and I won’t let them. So
when they see I am fighting back, I won’t let
them put the handcuff[s] on me. They throw
me on the floor. They throw me down on the
floor and I put my arms under me so they
wouldn’t get my arms. . . .

Eventually they get one of my hands out and
they handcuffed me.

Plaintiff further testified that the police never struck
her or kicked her, and agreed that “the only force they
used was the force trying to get [plaintiff’'s] hands out
from under [her] stomach to behind [her] back so they
could handcuff [her].” It got so difficult that the officers
had to lift plaintiff up and carry her down the stairs: “I
just wasn’t letting them move my feet and stuff. So I
was holding onto the stairs, and I had my feet still. So
that they won’t move it . . . . So, yes, I was resisting.”
All this time, she was screaming and yelling. She fur-
ther testified that the officers used no more force than
was necessary to carry her down the stairs.

Plaintiff’s injuries are also not indicative of exces-
sive force. Shortly after booking, police officers, at her
request, took her to the hospital as she was complain-
ing of chest pains. She was examined and given a seda-
tive, based on a diagnosis of minor swelling in one
wrist, but no further treatment. She saw her doctor a
couple of days after the incident, but he prescribed no
medication (although plaintiff continued to take medi-
cation that she already had).

This 1s simply not an excessive force case. It would
be unreasonable for a jury to conclude that the officers
did anything more than was necessary to gain entry
and subdue plaintiff, both of which they were entitled
to do.
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II1. State Law Claims

Plaintiff also brings numerous state law claims, in-
cluding a claim for false arrest and false imprisonment.
In New York, false arrest and false imprisonment are
the same cause of action. See Holland v. City of Pough-
keepsie, 90 A.D. 841, 845, 935 N.Y.S.2d 583, 589 (2d
Dep’t 2011)). A claim for false arrest under § 1983 is
“substantially the same” as a claim for false arrest and
false imprisonment under New York law. Jocks v.
Tavernier, 316 F.3d 128, 134 (2d Cir. 2003); see also
Ackerson v. City of White Plains, 702 F.3d 15, 19 (2d
Cir. 2012). As explained above, “[t]he existence of
probable cause to arrest constitutes justification and is
a complete defense to an action for false arrest, wheth-
er that action is brought under state law or under
§ 1983.” Weyant v. Okst, 101 F.3d 845, 852 (2d Cir.
1996). Therefore, based on the probable cause analysis
outlined above, plaintiff’s state law claim for false ar-
rest and false imprisonment is also dismissed.

As to the remaining state law claims (e.g. assault
and battery, negligent supervision, etc.), I decline to
exercise jurisdiction over them. Under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367(c)(3), the court may decline to exercise jurisdic-
tion over any non-federal claims over which it could
have supplemental jurisdiction if the court has dis-
missed all of the claims over which it has original ju-
risdiction. Having disposed of all of plaintiff’s federal
claims, it would be inappropriate to adjudicate the re-
maining state law claims. See United Mine Workers v.
Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966) (stating that if the fed-
eral claims are disposed of before trial, “the state
claims should be dismissed as well.”). Therefore, I de-
cline to retain jurisdiction over the remaining state law
claims and dismiss them without prejudice.
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CONCLUSION
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment is
granted. The Clerk is directed to enter judgment in fa-
vor of defendants’ on plaintiff’s § 1983 claims and state
law claim for false arrest and false imprisonment. The
remaining state law claims are dismissed without
prejudice to recommencement in state court.

SO ORDERED.

/s/ Brian M. Cogan

Dated: Brooklyn, New York
May 31, 2017
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APPENDIX C
In the

United States Court of Appeals
For the Second Circuit

August Term, 2015
(Argued: December 15, 2015 Decided: May 31, 2016)
Docket No. 14-4679-cr

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Appellant,
—V. —
JONATHAN BOHANNON,

Defendant-Appellee,

RONELL HANKS, AKA BIZ, AKA ACE, JERMAINE
BUCHANAN, AKA HOT MAIN, RASHAD HEARD,
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On appeal from a suppression order of the United
States District Court for the District of Connecticut
(Hall, C.J.), we consider whether defendant, appre-
hended pursuant to a valid arrest warrant in a third
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party’s residence entered without search-warrant au-
thorization, is entitled to have any evidence seized in-
cident to arrest excluded from trial as the fruit of an
unlawful entry. Like the district court and eight of our
sister circuits, we here conclude that, whether the sub-
ject of an arrest warrant is apprehended in his own
home or a third party’s residence where he is a guest,
his Fourth Amendment privacy rights with respect to
entry are those stated in Payton v. New York, 445 U.S.
573, 603 (1980), i.e., at the time of entry, arresting of-
ficers must possess (a) a valid arrest warrant for the
subject and (b) reason to believe that the subject is
then in the premises. In such circumstances, the third
party’s Fourth Amendment right to have a search war-
rant authorize entry into his home, see Steagald v.
United States, 451 U.S. 204, 222 (1981), does not ex-
tend to the subject of the arrest warrant. Where we de-
part from the district court, however, is in here con-
cluding that the totality of circumstances established
that, at the time of entry, law enforcement officers pos-
sessed the requisite reason to believe that defendant
was then present in the third party’s residence.

VACATED AND REMANDED.

REENA RAGGI, Circuit Judge:

Defendant Jonathan Bohannon is awaiting trial in
the United States District Court for the District of
Connecticut (Janet C. Hall, Chief Judge) on charges of
conspiracy to distribute and possess with intent to dis-
tribute 500 grams or more of cocaine and 280 grams or
more of cocaine base, see 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1),
841(b)(1)(A)(111), 841(b)(1)(B)(i1), 846; possession with
intent to distribute 280 grams or more of cocaine base,
seeid. §§ 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A)(111); possession of fire-
arms and ammunition by a convicted felon, see 18
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U.S.C. §§922(g)(1), 924(a)(2); and possession of fire-
arms in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime, see id.
§ 924(c0)(HA)®).

On this interlocutory appeal, see 18 U.S.C. § 3731,
the United States challenges the district court’s De-
cember 15, 2014 order suppressing drugs and money
seized incident to Bohannon’s arrest in the home of
Shonsai Dickson. See United States v. Bohannon, 67 F.
Supp. 3d 536 (D. Conn. 2014). The district court ruled
that because Bohannon’s apprehension was pursuant
to an arrest warrant, he could not mount a Fourth
Amendment challenge to the seizures at issue based on
the fact that entry into Dickson’s home was not author-
1ized by a search warrant. See Steagald v. United
States, 451 U.S. 204, 222 (1981) (holding search war-
rant necessary to protect privacy interests of third par-
ty whose home is searched for subject of arrest war-
rant). Nevertheless, the district court suppressed the
seized drugs and money, concluding that, at the time
arresting officers entered Dickson’s home, they lacked
the requisite reason to believe that Bohannon was then
in the premises. See Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573,
603 (1980) (holding that arrest warrant carries with it
limited authority to enter subject’s dwelling when
there is “reason to believe” he is within). The govern-
ment argues that the district court correctly relied on
Payton, rather than Steagald, in analyzing Bohannon’s
Fourth Amendment challenge, but erred in concluding
that the totality of circumstances failed to satisfy the
reason-to-believe-presence prong of Payton. We agree
for reasons set forth in this opinion and, therefore, we
vacate the challenged suppression order and remand
the case to the district court for further proceedings
consistent with this opinion.
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IV. Background!

At approximately 6:00 a.m. on December 5, 2013,
law enforcement officers entered Shonsai Dickson’s
apartment at 34 Morgan Avenue in Bridgeport, Con-
necticut (“34 Morgan Avenue” or “the premises”), to ex-
ecute an arrest warrant for defendant Bohannon. Oth-
er officers were simultaneously executing arrest war-
rants for more than a dozen of Bohannon’s confeder-
ates in the Trumbull Gardens Organization (“TGO”),
whose narcotics and firearms trafficking had been the
focus of a two-year investigation.

A. Determination of Bohannon’s Whereabouts
on December 5, 2013

On December 5, 2013, officers initially planned to
arrest Bohannon at 103 Crestview Drive, his Bridge-
port residence. Sometime between 5:00 and 5:30 a.m.,
however, the investigation’s lead FBI agent, Michael
Zuk, concluded that Bohannon was not at his home; ra-
ther, Zuk believed that Bohannon was at Dickson’s 34
Morgan Avenue apartment, approximately two miles
away. Zuk’s belief was based on information provided
to him by fellow officers that morning, viewed in light
of the totality of information gathered in the TGO in-
vestigation. See generally United States v. Garcia, 413
F.3d 201, 213 (2d Cir. 2005) (explaining that law en-
forcement officers may rely on “collective knowledge of
their colleagues” in determining probable cause). The
relevant information can be summarized as follows.

First, law enforcement officers physically sur-
veilling 103 Crestview Drive on December 5 in antici-
pation of Bohannon’s arrest saw “no indication” that he
was in his home. Nov. 13, 2014 Hr’g Tr. (“Tr.”) 15:14.

1 The facts reported herein were developed at a suppression hear-
ing before the district court.
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In particular, they saw no rental car parked in the vi-
cinity of 103 Crestview Drive although, from the TGO
investigation, they knew that Bohannon regularly
drove rental cars not registered in his name.

Second, at approximately 4:00 a.m. on December 5,
cell-site information provided by Verizon Wireless pur-
suant to a warrant indicated that at 2:38 a.m. that
same morning, Bohannon’s cell phone was used in a
sector of Bridgeport that did not include his 103
Crestview Drive home.

Third, the Verizon data further showed that Bo-
hannon’s cell phone— which the TGO investigation in-
dicated was used exclusively by Bohannon—had been
1n active use up until 2:38 a.m., whereupon it went si-
lent, remaining so through the time of Bohannon’s ar-
rest.

From these facts, Zuk inferred that Bohannon had
retired for the night soon after 2:38 a.m. at the location
where he had last used his phone, which was not his
home.2

Fourth, the Verizon data showed that within the
cell phone sector where Bohannon’s cell phone was last
used at 2:38 a.m. on December 5, 2013, there was only
one address to which Bohannon had been linked dur-
ing the TGO investigation: 34 Morgan Avenue, the lo-
cation of Dickson’s apartment.3 The link was based on,

2 Agent Zuk testified that the team was continuously monitoring
Bohannon’s cell phone activity on the morning of his arrest and,
“[h]ad another call been placed to or from this phone, [Zuk] would
have been given another cell site location to utilize.” Tr. 26:20-22.

3 The government contends that the district court erroneously re-
lied on a map offered by Bohannon at the suppression hearing,
which purportedly showed that 34 Morgan Avenue is outside the
coverage area for the relevant cell tower, when the map was ad-
mitted only for the limited purpose of establishing the location of
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(a) Bohannon’s own text messages (intercepted
between September and December 2013 pur-
suant to court order) advising confederate
Ronell Hanks that Bohannon was at or near
Morgan Avenue;

(b) Bohannon’s statement to authorities during an
October 16, 2013 traffic stop that he was com-
ing “from Morgan Avenue,” Tr. 12:10- 17,

(¢) authorities’ observations of Bohannon, after
the aforementioned traffic stop, driving to the
general area of 34 Morgan Avenue and walk-
ing to the entrance door of that address; and

(d) data from Bohannon’s previous cell phone,
which on several occasions in 2013 placed him
within 10 meters of 34 Morgan Avenue.4

Fifth, an October 2013 background property check
of 34 Morgan Avenue revealed that the resident of that
building’s second-floor apartment was Shonsai Dick-
son. Agents were familiar with Dickson’s name as that
of the lessee of another apartment in Trumbull Gar-
dens out of which TGO members were known to sell
heroin.

Sixth, on November 26, 2013, surveillance officers
had observed a Toyota Camry registered to Dickson

34 Morgan Avenue and the relevant cell tower. The district court’s
opinion, however, acknowledges that the purpose of the map was
so limited and, further, makes clear its factual finding that,
around 2:30 a.m., Bohannon’s cell phone was in an area that in-
cluded 34 Morgan Avenue but not 103 Crestview Drive. See Unit-
ed States v. Bohannon, 67 F. Supp. 3d at 540 n.3, 546.

4 Bohannon used his previous cell phone—which had a global po-
sitioning system (“GPS”) that allowed for more precise tracking
capabilities than the cell phone he was using at the time of his ar-
rest—until approximately November 2013.
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parked in front of Bohannon’s 103 Crestview Drive res-
idence.

Seventh, officers observed Dickson’s Toyota Camry
parked outside 34 Morgan Avenue early on the morn-
ing of December 5.

B. The Challenged Arrest And Ensuing Search

Based on the totality of this information, Agent
Zuk re-directed the Bohannon arrest team from 103
Crestview Drive to 34 Morgan Avenue. At the time,
agents possessed an arrest warrant for Bohannon, but
no arrest warrant for Dickson or search warrant au-
thorizing entry into her apartment. Nevertheless,
agents proceeded to enter Dickson’s apartment through
an unlocked back door and, upon finding Bohannon in
Dickson’s bedroom, placed him under arrest.

Simultaneously, members of the arrest team con-
ducted a security sweep of the bedroom. Under the bed
adjacent to where Bohannon was being arrested, au-
thorities observed bags containing a white rock-like
substance that they believed to be crack cocaine, which
they did not immediately seize. Authorities also
searched Bohannon’s pants and in one pocket found a
large quantity of cash, which they removed before giv-
ing the pants to Bohannon so that he could get dressed.

After Bohannon and Dickson were removed from
the bedroom, FBI Agent Ryan James informed Dickson
that drugs had been observed during the sweep and
that she could be arrested for their presence in her
apartment. James then sought, and Dickson provided,
consent for a full search of her apartment and car. Dur-
ing this search, authorities seized the bags of crack co-
caine earlier seen under the bed; money also found un-
der the bed; additional crack, money, and a scale found
in a dresser; and three firearms and ammunition found
in a closet. A fourth firearm was seized from Dickson’s
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car. As the drugs were being removed from under the
bed and taken out of the bedroom, Bohannon shouted,
“it is all mine, don’t worry about it.” Tr. 119:10-11; see
also id. at 74:23-25.5

C. District Court Proceedings

On December 18, 2013, a federal grand jury in the
District of Connecticut returned an indictment charg-
ing Bohannon and thirteen confederates with various
narcotics and firearms offenses.

Bohannon filed a pre-trial motion to suppress the
evidence seized from Dickson’s apartment and car as
the fruit of an illegal entry and an invalid consent. In
arguing illegal entry, he advanced two arguments.
First, while acknowledging that an arrest warrant car-
ries with it the authority to enter the home of the war-
rant subject, Bohannon maintained that execution of
such a warrant in a third party’s home required the
further entry authorization of a search warrant, which
was plainly lacking here. See Steagald v. United States,
451 U.S. at 222. Second, Bohannon maintained that,
even if Steagald protections did not extend to him, the
entry and ensuing arrest and search were unlawful
under Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, because au-
thorities lacked the requisite reason to believe that he
was in those premises at the time of entry.

The district court rejected Bohannon’s search-
warrant challenge, concluding that Steagald protec-
tions applied to a third-party resident not named in an

5 The district court denied Bohannon’s motion to suppress these
statements in a separate opinion, concluding that (1) Bohannon
had previously been advised of and waived his rights under
Mianda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966); and (2) in any event, his
statement was a spontaneous utterance, not responsive to interro-
gation. That decision is not at issue in this appeal.
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arrest warrant, not to a non-resident guest who was
the subject of the arrest warrant. It agreed, however,
that the entry was not supported by reason to believe
that Bohannon was then present in the premises and,
on that Payton ground, suppressed any drugs and
money seized incident to Bohannon’s arrest. The dis-
trict court also suppressed all evidence subsequently
seized from the premises, finding that Dickson’s con-
sent to search her apartment was not voluntary. Alt-
hough the same consent defect pertained to the search
of Dickson’s car, the district court did not grant Bo-
hannon’s motion to suppress evidence seized there-
from, concluding that Bohannon had no reasonable ex-
pectation of privacy in that vehicle.

Invoking 18 U.S.C. § 3731, the government timely
appealed, challenging only the suppression of the crack
cocaine found under Dickson’s bed and the cash found
in Bohannon’s pants pocket incident to his arrest.6

V. Discussion
A. Standard of review

On appeal from a challenged suppression order, we
review a district court’s findings of fact for clear error,
and its resolution of questions of law and mixed ques-
tions of law and fact de novo. See United States v.
Bershchansky, 788 F.3d 102, 109 (2d Cir. 2015). The
government does not here challenge any factual find-
ings of the district court. Rather, it challenges that
court’s application of undisputed facts to the standard
enunciated in Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, and,
specifically, its determination that the totality of cir-
cumstances did not afford law enforcement officers rea-

6 The government does not challenge the suppression of other ev-
idence found in the subsequent search that the district court ruled
was not supported by voluntary consent.
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son to believe that Bohannon was in Dickson’s apart-
ment at the time they entered those premises on De-
cember 5, 2013. We review this mixed question of law
and fact de novo. See United States v. Singletary, 798
F.3d 55, 59 (2d Cir. 2015) (explaining that review of de-
termination as to whether reasonable suspicion or
probable cause existed is de novo); United States v. Da-
vis, 326 F.3d 361, 365 (2d Cir. 2003) (applying de novo
review where parties did not dispute relevant facts).
We also review de novo Bohannon’s legal contention
that, regardless of whether authorities had reason to
believe that he was in Dickson’s apartment at the time
of entry, that entry violated the Fourth Amendment
because it was not authorized by a search warrant as
required by Steagald v. United States, 451 U.S. 204.7

We conclude that where, as here, the subject of an
arrest warrant is apprehended in a third party’s resi-
dence where he i1s a guest, the subject’s Fourth
Amendment privacy rights with respect to entry of that
residence are no greater than the privacy rights he
would have had if apprehended in his own home and,
thus, are delineated by Payton, not Steagald. We fur-
ther conclude that the totality of circumstances here

7 Although the government invokes our jurisdiction pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 3731, which makes no provision for a cross-appeal by a
defendant, Bohannon may nonetheless assert independent
grounds for affirming the suppression order. See United States v.
Swarovski, 557 F.2d 40, 49 (2d Cir. 1977) (citing, inter alia, Dan-
dridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 475-76 & n.6 (1970) (explaining
that appellee may, without filing cross-appeal, “urge in support of
a decree any matter appearing in the record, although his argu-
ment may involve an attack upon the reasoning of the lower
court,” and first considering appellee’s alternative ground for af-
firmance that was, if correct, dispositive (internal quotation marks
omitted))); accord United States v. Andino, 768 F.3d 94, 100 (2d
Cir. 2014).



30a

satisfied Payton’s requirement that, at the time of en-
try, law enforcement officers have reason to believe
that the subject of the arrest warrant is within the en-
tered premises.8

B. The Payton and Steagald Rules for Execut-
ing Arrest Warrants at Residences

The Fourth Amendment recognizes “[t]he right of
the people to be secure in their persons, houses, pa-
pers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and
seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Where, as here, au-
thorities have a valid warrant for a person’s arrest,9
the Supreme Court has deemed it “constitutionally
reasonable” to require the warrant subject “to open his

8 Payton’s reason-to-believe requirement applies only if the sub-
ject of the arrest warrant has standing to object to the entry of the
third-party residence, i.e., has a legitimate expectation of privacy
in that residence. See Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978)
(explaining that “capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth
Amendment depends . .. upon whether the person who claims the
protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of pri-
vacy in the invaded place”). In short, an intruder or other person
without a legitimate expectation of privacy in the entered premis-
es could not seek to suppress seized evidence because entering of-
ficers lacked a reasonable belief he was present therein. See Unit-
ed States v. Buckner, 717 F.2d 297, 299-300 (6th Cir. 1983) (ex-
plaining that, where defendant arrested in third-party home chal-
lenges entry, “courts should first focus on the issue of standing”
because, “[1]n the usual case, the defendant will not have had a le-
gitimate expectation of privacy in the premises . . . and therefore
will be unable to challenge the search”). The government does not
here dispute the district court’s conclusion that, as an overnight
guest, Bohannon had standing to challenge the entry of Dickson’s
apartment. See United States v. Bohannon, 67 F. Supp. 3d at 543
(citing Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 99 (1990)).

9 The validity of the warrant for Bohannon’s arrest is undisputed
and, thus, we need not detail the facts establishing probable
cause.
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doors to the officers of the law.” Payton v. New York,
445 U.S. at 602—-03. Thus, the Court ruled that “an ar-
rest warrant founded on probable cause implicitly car-
ries with it the limited authority to enter a dwelling in
which the suspect lives when there is reason to believe
the suspect is within.” Id. at 603. In these circum-
stances, entry does not require the further authoriza-
tion of a search warrant.10

Within a year of Payton, the Supreme Court clari-
fied that the same rule does not apply to an individual
who 1s prosecuted based on evidence seized from his
home during execution of an arrest warrant for another
person thought to be in the premises. See Steagald v.
United States, 451 U.S. at 213—14, 222 (explaining that
Steagald was charged with narcotics violations because
cocaine belonging to him was found in his home by of-
ficers executing arrest warrant for non-resident not
found therein). The Supreme Court observed that two
distinct Fourth Amendment interests are implicated
when law enforcement officers enter a third party’s res-
idence to execute an arrest warrant for a non-resident:
(1) the subject of the arrest warrant has an “interest in
being free from an unreasonable seizure,” id. at 216;
and (2) the third-party resident has an “interest in be-
ing free from an unreasonable search of his home,” id.
Addressing itself only to the latter interest and, specif-
ically, to “the narrow issue” of “whether an arrest war-
rant — as opposed to a search warrant—is adequate to
protect the Fourth Amendment interests of [a third-
party resident] not named in the warrant,” the Su-
preme Court concluded that an arrest warrant was not

10 Citing Payton, this court recently held that physical entry of a
home to effect its resident’s arrest without an arrest warrant is
presumptively unreasonable. See United States v. Allen, 813 F.3d
76, 80—81 (2d Cir. 2016).
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adequate to protect such a person from an unreasona-
ble search. Id. at 212—13. As to that third-party resi-
dent, the Fourth Amendment requires the entry to be
authorized by a search warrant. See id. at 216, 222.

C. Payton,not Steagald, Delineates the Fourth
Amendment Rights of an Arrest-Warrant
Subject Apprehended in a Third-Party Res-
idence Where He Is a Visitor

The government does not—and cannot—dispute
that entry into Shonsai Dickson’s home without a
search warrant was unlawful as to her in light of
Steagald. But it is not the third-party resident, Dick-
son, who 1s before us in this case. Rather, it 1s Bohan-
non, the subject of the arrest warrant executed in
Dickson’s home, who invokes Steagald to argue that
his Fourth Amendment rights were violated because
Dickson’s home was entered without a search warrant.
Steagald does not afford him such a claim. The Su-
preme Court there made clear that it was recognizing
only the third-party resident’s right to a search war-
rant and expressly leaving open the question of
“whether the subject of an arrest warrant can object to
the absence of a search warrant when he is apprehend-
ed in another person’s home.” Id. at 219. Indeed, the
question remains unanswered by the Supreme Court to
this day.

After Payton—Dbut prior to Steagald—this court
held that “police may enter a dwelling to execute an ar-
rest warrant for a person other than its owner or ten-
ant where there exists reasonable belief that the party
sought will be found therein.” United States v. Manley,
632 F.2d 978, 983 (2d Cir. 1980) (internal quotation
marks omitted). We have not considered the question,
however, in the aftermath of Steagald. See United



33a

States v. Snype, 441 F.3d 119, 133 (2d Cir. 2006) (not-
ing that question remains open in this court).

In now answering that question, we begin by not-
ing that eight of our sister circuits have concluded that
the subject of an arrest warrant, apprehended in a
third party’s residence, may not invoke Steagald to
claim that his Fourth Amendment rights were violated
because entry into the residence was not authorized by
a search warrant. See United States v. Hollis, 780 F.3d
1064, 1068—69 (11th Cir. 2015); United States v. Jack-
son, 576 F.3d 465, 468 (7th Cir. 2009); United States v.
Kern, 336 F. App’x 296, 297-98 (4th Cir. 2009); United
States v. McCarson, 527 F.3d 170, 172-73 (D.C. Cir.
2008); United States v. Pruitt, 458 F.3d 477, 482 (6th
Cir. 2006); United States v. Agnew, 407 F.3d 193, 197
(3d Cir. 2005); United States v. Kaylor, 877 F.2d 658,
663 & n.5 (8th Cir. 1989); United States v. Underwood,
717 F.2d 482, 484 (9th Cir. 1983) (en banc).

The rationale for this conclusion, as we recognized
in Snype, is that “(a) Fourth Amendment rights are
personal and cannot be asserted vicariously, and (b)
requiring police who already hold an arrest warrant for
a suspect to obtain a search warrant before they can
pursue that suspect in a third party’s home would
grant the suspect broader rights in the third party’s
home than he would have in his own home under Pay-
ton.” 441 F.3d at 133 (collecting cases to date); see
United States v. Hollis, 780 F.3d at 1068 (stating that
“person has no greater right of privacy in another’s
home than in his own,” and, therefore, “[i]f an arrest
warrant and reason to believe the person named in the
warrant is present are sufficient to protect that per-
son’s [Flourth [Almendment privacy rights in his own
home, they necessarily suffice to protect his privacy
rights in the home of another™ (brackets in original)
(quoting United States v. Agnew, 407 F.3d at 197));
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United States v. Jackson, 576 F.3d at 468 (observing
that “Steagald did not hold that the subject of an arrest
warrant has a higher expectation of privacy in another
person’s residence than he does in his own”); United
States v. Kern, 336 F. App’x at 298 (rejecting defend-
ant’s complaint that entry into premises to effect his
arrest violated third-party homeowner’s right to be free
from unreasonable search because “Fourth Amend-
ment rights are personal rights which . . . may not be
vicariously asserted” (quoting Rakas v. Illinois, 439
U.S. 128, 133-34 (1978))); United States v. McCarson,
527 F.3d at 172—73 (holding that subject of arrest war-
rant apprehended in another’s home lacks standing to
invoke homeowner’s Steagald rights “in his defense”);
United States v. Pruitt, 458 F.3d at 482 (stating that it
would be “illogical” to extend to subject of arrest war-
rant “greater rights of privacy in the . . . home of his
girlfriend than he would have been afforded in his res-
1dence of record under Payton”); see also 6 Wayne R.
LaFave, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth
Amendment (“LaFave, Search and Seizure”) § 11.3(b),
at 202 & nn.134-35 (5th ed. 2012).

We here adopt this reasoning as our own and join
our sister circuits in concluding that the subject of a
valid arrest warrant cannot complain that his Fourth
Amendment right to be free from an unreasonable sei-
zure was violated by apprehension in a third party’s
home, entry to which was not authorized by a search
warrant. The arrest-warrant subject has no greater
privacy rights in such circumstances than he would
have had if the arrest had been made in his own home.
Thus, if, at the time of entry, law enforcement officers
possessed a valid warrant for the subject’s arrest and
reason to believe that he was then in the premises en-
tered, the subject of the arrest warrant will not be
heard to complain that entry was not authorized by a
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search warrant. See United States v. Payton, 445 U.S.
at 602—-03.

In urging otherwise, Bohannon points to the follow-
ing statement in United States v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d
339 (2d Cir. 1999): “The principle discussed in Payton,
allowing officers to enter the residence of the suspect
named in the arrest warrant, does not authorize entry
into a residence in which the officers do not believe the
suspect 1s residing but believe he is merely visiting.”
Id. at 344 (citing Steagald v. United States, 451 U.S. at
213-14 & n.7). Bohannon construes this sentence to
signal that Steagald, rather than Payton, applies here
because it is undisputed that the arrest team believed
him to be only a visitor to Dickson’s apartment. This
misreads the statement by taking it out of context.

Defendant Lovelock was the resident of an apart-
ment entered without a search warrant by officers exe-
cuting an arrest warrant for another person believed to
be the resident. This court concluded that when Love-
lock was then prosecuted for contraband seized from
his apartment, he was not entitled to have that evi-
dence suppressed based on Steagald because, although
the entry of his residence was not supported by a
search warrant, the officers reasonably believed that
the arrest-warrant subject resided in the apartment. In
thus holding that “Steagald did not . . . prohibit entry
into a residence reasonably believed to belong to the
person named in the arrest warrant,” id., Lovelock ef-
fectively narrowed Steagald’s application, even as to
third-party residents. It did not extend Steagald—as
Bohannon here urges—to afford arrest-warrant sub-
jects greater rights with respect to their apprehensions
in third-party residences than Payton recognizes them
to have in their own homes. In sum, when the Lovelock
language cited by Bohannon is considered in context, it
1s properly understood to identify reasonable entry ex-
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pectations as follows: (1) Payton delineates the reason-
able expectations of a resident who is the subject of an
arrest warrant; (2) Steagald delineates the reasonable
expectations of a third-party resident whose home is
entered to execute an arrest warrant for a non-
resident; but (3) even as to such a third-party resident,
Steagald does not prohibit entry into the third party’s
home without a search warrant where authorities exe-
cuting an arrest warrant “reasonably believe[ the resi-
dence] to belong to the person named in the arrest
warrant.” United States v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d at 344.11

11 In United States v. Vasquez-Algarin, --- F.3d ----, 2016 WL
1730540, at *4 & n.8 (3d Cir. May 2, 2016), the Third Circuit ap-
pears to have assumed a Steagald caveat akin to that pronounced
in Lovelock, although there concluding that the third-party resi-
dent was entitled to suppression of seized evidence because the
entering officers’ mistaken belief that the home was that of the
subject of their arrest warrant was not supported by a reasonable
basis. Notably, the Third Circuit did not depart from its earlier
holding in United States v. Agnew, 407 F.3d at 197 (rejecting
Steagald challenge by arrest-warrant subject apprehended in res-
idence not his own). See supra at 20. Indeed, it distinguished
Vasquez-Algarin from Agnew by noting that Vasquez-Algarin was
not the subject of the arrest warrant being executed. See United
States v. Vasquez-Algarin, 2016 WL 1730540, at *4 n.8.

In United States v. Glover, 746 F.3d 369 (8th Cir. 2014), and
United States v. Gay, 240 F.3d 1222 (10th Cir. 2001), courts heard
challenges by arrest-warrant subjects to the reasonable bases for
officers’ beliefs that certain premises were their residences and
that they could be found therein. Because, in each case, the courts
concluded that there was such a basis and, thus, no Payton viola-
tion, they had no occasion to consider any Steagald claim. Indeed,
Glover did not discuss, much less limit or overrule, the Eighth
Circuit’s holding in United States v. Kaylor, 877 F.2d at 663 & n.5,
see supra at 20, that a person arrested in a third-party residence
could not complain that the residence had been entered without a
search warrant because, at the time of entry, officers possessed a
valid warrant for his arrest and a reasonable belief of his presence
in the premises.
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No more helpful to Bohannon is United States v.
Weems, 322 F.3d 18 (1st Cir. 2003), because the First
Circuit did not there hold that the subject of an arrest
warrant can raise a Steagald challenge. It only as-
sumed such a challenge in concluding that the entry at
issue was nevertheless justified by exigent circum-
stances. See id. at 23 & n.3; see also United States v.
Graham, 553 F.3d 6, 14 n.4 (1st Cir. 2009) (stating that
Steagald and Weems left open question whether subject
of arrest warrant can raise Steagald challenge to entry
of third-party residence, and declining to reach issue).
Insofar as Weems quotes treatise language cautioning
against “render[ing] the Steagald rule a virtual nulli-
ty,” United States v. Weems, 322 F.3d at 23 n.3 (quot-
ing 5 LaFave, Search and Seizure § 11.3(b), at 143 (3d
ed. 1996)), the context for that concern was the possi-
bility that a person arrested at a third-party residence
in “the absence of any kind of warrant” would not be
heard to complain on the rationale that “the arrest
warrant requirement is to protect his own premises,
which were not invaded, while the search warrant re-
quirement 1s to protect only the privacy interests of the
person residing at the place where he was arrested,” 5
LaFave, Search and Seizure § 11.3(b), at 143 (3d ed.
1996) (emphasis added); accord 6 LaFave, Search and
Seizure § 11.3(b), at 202—03 (5th ed. 2012). Plainly, no
such concern arises here. The district court recog-
nized—and the government does not dispute—that Bo-
hannon is entitled to the Payton protections of both a
valid arrest warrant and reason to believe that the ar-
rest-warrant subject was then in the entered premises.
Further, nothing in this decision renders Steagald a
nullity. Its rule fully controls in the very circumstances
for which it was pronounced, i.e., challenges by third-
party residents who are prosecuted based on evidence
seized from their homes in executing arrest warrants
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for other persons—subject only to our Lovelock caveat,
which we have no occasion to review here. See general-
ly United States v. Taylor, 497 F.3d 673, 679 (D.C. Cir.
2007) (observing that Steagald limits evidence that
could be used against third-party resident, not evi-
dence that could be used against subject of arrest war-
rant).

Insofar as Bohannon highlights the Supreme
Court’s failure in Steagald to make plain that only
Payton protections apply when the subject of an arrest
warrant is apprehended in a third party’s home, such
Inaction supports no inference favorable to Bohannon.
As we have already observed, Steagald explicitly ad-
dressed only the narrow issue of whether an arrest
warrant adequately protects the Fourth Amendment
interests of a person not named in the warrant when
his home is searched for the warrant’s subject.!2
Steagald concluded that it did not because the arrest
warrant required “no judicial determination whatsoev-
er regarding the person whose home is to be searched.”

12 The narrow scope of Steagald also defeats Bohannon’s conten-
tion that the Supreme Court there “held that in lieu of obtaining a
search warrant, the police could arrest the subject of an arrest
warrant either before or after he enters the third party’s home.”
Appellee’s Br. 29. Insofar as the Court—in rejecting the govern-
ment’s concern that requiring a search warrant to protect a third
party’s privacy interests would impede law enforcement efforts—
observed that there are alternative locations at which law en-
forcement officers can execute an arrest warrant, see Steagald v.
United States, 451 U.S. at 221, that observation, which was not
necessary to the Court’s decision, did not construe the Fourth
Amendment to preclude execution of arrest warrants in third-
party residences. See generally Baraket v. Holder, 632 F.3d 56, 59
(2d Cir. 2011) (explaining that what “distinguishes holding from
dictum” is “whether resolution of the question is necessary for the
decision of the case”).
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451 U.S. at 214 n.7. Further, although Steagald had no
occasion to decide under what circumstances the sub-
ject of an arrest warrant could challenge his apprehen-
sion in a third party’s residence, the Supreme Court
there reiterated the principle underlying Payton: that
“[b]Jecause an arrest warrant authorizes the police to
deprive a person of his liberty, it necessarily also au-
thorizes a limited invasion of that person’s privacy in-
terest when it is necessary to arrest him in his home.”

Id.

Like our sister circuits, then, we conclude that the
subject of an arrest warrant has no greater right to
privacy in another person’s home than he has in his
own and, therefore, that Bohannon’s seizure pursuant
to a valid arrest warrant, and any search incident
thereto, was reasonable if officers had reason to believe
that he was present in Dickson’s home at the time of
entry. See Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. at 603. Bo-
hannon cannot challenge his arrest on the ground that
the officers’ entry into Dickson’s home was not author-
1zed by a search warrant. That Steagald requirement
protects a third-party resident from unreasonable in-
trusions into his home. It is not a constitutional re-
quirement for the reasonable seizure of a person
named in a valid arrest warrant.

D. The Officers Had Reason To Believe that
Bohannon Was Within Dickson’s Apartment
on the Morning of December 5, 2013

Having determined that Payton, not Steagald, pro-
vides the proper standard for analyzing Bohannon’s
Fourth Amendment challenge here, we consider de no-
vo whether the record demonstrates the requisite rea-
son to believe that Bohannon was in Dickson’s apart-
ment when officers entered those premises on Decem-
ber 5, 2013. We conclude that it does.
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At the outset, we note a circuit split as to the show-
ing necessary to satisfy Payton’s “reason to believe”
standard, with some courts equating reason to believe
to probable cause and others holding that reason to be-
lieve 1s a lesser standard. In United States v. Lauter,
57 F.3d 212 (2d Cir. 1995), this court reached the se-
cond conclusion. See id. at 215 (rejecting probable
cause as “too stringent a test” under Payton, and em-
phasizing that reasonable belief is “proper” standard
(citing, inter alia, United States v. Manley, 632 F.2d at
983 (“[T]he ‘reasonable belief standard.... may require
less justification than the more familiar probable cause
test.”))); accord United States v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d at
343-44.

The D.C. and Tenth Circuits agree. See United
States v. Thomas, 429 F.3d 282, 286 (D.C. Cir. 2005)
(citing Lauter, among cases from other sister circuits,
in holding that reasonable belief under Payton requires
lesser showing than probable cause); Valdez v.
McPheters, 172 F.3d 1220, 1227 n.5 (10th Cir. 1999)
(“While probable cause itself is a relatively low thresh-
old of proof, it is a higher standard than reasonable be-
lief....” (internal quotation marks omitted)).13 By con-
trast, the Third, Fifth, and Ninth Circuits have con-
strued Payton’s reasonable-belief standard as equiva-
lent to probable clause. See United States v. Vasquez-
Algerin, 2016 WL 1730540, at *10 [3d Cir.]; United
States v. Barrera, 464 F.3d 496, 501 & n.5 (5th Cir.
2006); United States v. Gorman, 314 F.3d 1105, 1114—

13 A Tenth Circuit panel has questioned whether Valdez should be
reconsidered, but declined to pursue that matter because, even as-
suming Payton’s reasonable-belief standard equates to probable
cause, the officers there had probable cause to believe the arrestee
was home at the time of entry. See United States v. Denson, 775
F.3d 1214, 1216-17 (10th Cir. 2014).
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15 (9th Cir. 2002). A number of other circuits have
elided the issue. See United States v. Hamilton, --- F.3d
----,2016 WL 1592671, at *3 n.5 (1st Cir. Apr. 20, 2016)
(assuming without deciding that “reasonable beliefis a
lesser standard than probable cause” and concluding
that evidence satisfied probable-cause standard in any
event); United States v. Jackson, 576 F.3d at 469 [7th
Cir.] (noting circuit split, but declining to “decide
whether reasonable belief requires probable cause or
something less” because “police had enough evidence to
easily satisfy a probable cause standard” (internal quo-
tation marks omitted)); United States v. Hardin, 539
F.3d at 416 & n.6 [6th Cir.] (declining to decide wheth-
er “lesser reasonable-belief standard applies” under
Payton because officers’ belief did not satisfy even that
lower standard, but expressing in dicta view that prob-
able cause is correct standard); see also United States
v. Magluta, 44 F.3d 1530, 1534-35 (11th Cir. 1995)
(noting that “it 1s difficult to define the Payton ‘reason
to believe’ standard, or to compare the quantum of
proof the standard requires with the proof that proba-
ble cause requires”).

This panel is, of course, bound by Lauter and, thus,
our reason-to-believe review here does not demand
probable cause. See United States v. Jass, 569 F.3d 47,
58 (2d Cir. 2009) (explaining that panels are bound by
prior decisions of this court unless overruled en banc or
by Supreme Court). Notably, Bohannon does not dis-
pute that Lauter controls Payton review in this circuit.
See United States v. Quinones, 511 F.3d 289, 311 n.14
(2d Cir. 2007) (holding argument not raised on appeal
waived). To the contrary, he cites approvingly to Lauter
in urging this panel to conclude, as the district court
did, that officers entering Dickson’s apartment lacked
the requisite reason to believe that Bohannon was then
in the premises. We conclude otherwise.
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At the outset, we observe that it is no more possible
to articulate a precise meaning for “reason to believe”
as a standard for determining the likelihood of pres-
ence at a particular site, than it is to afford precise
meanings to standards such as “reasonable suspicion”
or “probable cause.” See Ornelas v. United States, 517
U.S. 690, 695 (1996) (stating that it is “not possible” to
state precise meanings for latter two standards). That
1s because these standards are all “commonsense, non-
technical conceptions . . . not readily, or even usefully,
reduced to a neat set of legal rules.” Id. at 695-96 (in-
ternal quotation marks omitted) (cautioning that prob-
able cause and reasonable suspicion “are not ‘finely-
tuned standards,” comparable to the standards of proof
beyond a reasonable doubt or . . . by a preponderance of
the evidence” (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213,
235 (1983))). Rather, they are “fluid concepts that take
their substantive content from the particular contexts
in which the standards are being assessed.” Id. at 696
(collecting cases). Thus, the Supreme Court has ruled
only that “probable cause to search is demonstrated
where the totality of circumstances indicates a fair
probability that [the thing to be seized] will be found in
a particular place.” Walczyk v. Rio, 496 F.3d 139, 156
(2d Cir. 2007) (emphasis added) (quoting Illinois v.
Gates, 462 U.S. at 238). Meanwhile, reasonable suspi-
cion—a concept generally associated with investigative
stops— has been held to require more than a “hunch,”
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968), and to be satisfied
when “specific and articulable facts . . . taken together
with rational inferences from those facts,” id. at 21,
provide detaining officers with a “particularized and
objective basis for suspecting legal wrongdoing,” United
States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (emphasis
added) (internal quotation marks omitted); see Rich-
ards v. Wisconsin, 520 U.S. 385, 394 (1997) (describing
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reasonable-suspicion standard as “not high”); United
States v. Bailey, 743 F.3d 322, 332 (2d Cir. 2014) (ob-
serving that reasonable-suspicion standard “is less
than probable cause, requiring only facts sufficient to
give rise to a reasonable suspicion that criminal activi-
ty ‘may be afoot” (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. at
30)).

Precisely because reasonable suspicion is a concept
so closely associated with investigative stops, we do not
here assume that it equates exactly to Payton’s reason-
to-believe standard for determining the likelihood of
presence. Nevertheless, we borrow from reasonable-
suspicion precedent to conclude that “reason to believe”
that the subject of an arrest warrant is within particu-
lar premises requires more than a hunch as to pres-
ence, but less than a probability. As with reasonable
suspicion, reason to believe is not a particularly high
standard, but it does require specific and articulable
facts that, taken together with rational inferences
drawn therefrom, provide a particularized and objec-
tive basis for thinking that the arrest-warrant subject
may be present within specific premises. See United
States v. Spencer, 684 F.2d 220, 223 (2d Cir. 1982)
(concluding that facts satisfied Payton where they pro-
vided “reasonable basis for the police to believe defend-
ant might be within” (emphasis added)). That standard
1s satisfied here by the following facts.

Verizon information from December 5, 2013,
showed Bohannon’s cell phone in frequent use up until
2:38 a.m., after which the phone was inactive through
Bohannon’s arrest. These two facts, by themselves,
provided an articulable, objective basis to suspect that
Bohannon had retired for the night soon after—and
likely near—his last cell phone use. See Ornelas v.
United States, 517 U.S. at 695 (observing that probable
cause and reasonable suspicion are concepts “that deal
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with the factual and practical considerations of every-
day life on which reasonable and prudent men, not le-
gal technicians, act” (internal quotation marks omit-

ted)).

Verizon data further showed that, when last used
at 2:38 a.m., Bohannon’s phone was operating within a
cell sector that did not include his 103 Crestview Drive
residence. Additionally, visual surveillance of 103
Crestview Drive at approximately 4:00 a.m. on Decem-
ber 5 showed no indication that Bohannon was then at
his residence; specifically, no rental cars, such as those
Bohannon was known regularly to use based on obser-
vations over the course of a two-year investigation,
were seen in the vicinity of 103 Crestview Drive. To-
gether, these facts provided an articulable and objec-
tive basis to suspect that Bohannon had not retired for
the night at his Crestview Drive home but, rather, had
done so at the location where he had last used his cell
phone.

Verizon data showed that the cell sector where Bo-
hannon had last used his phone included Dickson’s 34
Morgan Avenue apartment. As the district court ob-
served, the Verizon data did not—could not—identify
Bohannon’s precise location within the sector, which
included many residences in addition to that at 34
Morgan Avenue. See United States v. Bohannon, 67 F.
Supp. 3d at 547. But in reviewing a record for reason to
believe presence, a court properly follows the same rule
applicable to probable cause determinations, i.e., “we
cannot discount facts one by one” as soon as any weak-
ness is identified or contrary explanation hypothesized.
United States v. Delossantos, 536 F.3d 155, 161 (2d Cir.
2008) (making observation in context of assessing
probable cause); see United States v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d
at 344 (rejecting defendant’s attempt “to segment, iso-
late, and minimize each item of evidence that contrib-
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uted to the existence and reasonableness of the officers’
belief”). Thus, Verizon data as to the sector location of
Bohannon’s phone must be viewed with other evidence
that, in total, provided reason to believe that Bohannon
“might be within” Dickson’s 34 Morgan Avenue apart-
ment on the morning of December 5. United States v.
Spencer, 684 F.2d at 223.14

Not only had Bohannon referenced Morgan Avenue
generally in various text messages to a TGO confeder-
ate, but also, data from another cell phone that Bohan-
non had used into November 2013 placed him within
10 meters of 34 Morgan Avenue on several occasions,

14 Insofar as Bohannon dismisses reliance on the noted cell-site
data because (1) FBI Agent Zuk was not an expert in the technol-
ogy, and (2) cell-site data are not a reliable way to identify a
phone’s location because cell phones do not always connect to the
closest cell tower, his arguments merit little discussion. The gov-
ernment acknowledged, and the district court recognized, that
Zuk was not a technology expert. Further, Zuk admitted that cell
phone data sometimes misidentified locations. See Tr. 28:20—23.
Nevertheless, Zuk also testified that in his 16 years as an FBI
agent, he had frequently received cell phone data; understood that
“typically a cell phone will reach out to the tower closest to it,” id.;
and found the information “generally helpful to find . . . where a
person is,” id. at 30:9—-13. Zuk further testified to law enforce-
ment’s specific use of cell-site data reliably to locate individuals in
the course of the TGO investigation. See id. at 15:16—23 (explain-
ing that, in course of investigation, TGO task force “had become
pretty comfortable” relying on cell-site data in locating Bohannon
and his confederates). “[W]hile a reviewing court cannot merely
defer to police officers’ judgment in assessing reasonable suspi-
cion, the court must view the totality of the circumstances through
the eyes of a reasonable and cautious police officer on the scene.”
United States v. Bailey, 743 F.3d at 322 (internal quotation marks
omitted). When we do that here, we identify no reason not to con-
sider the cell-site data among the totality of evidence that could
support a law enforcement officer’s reasonable-belief determina-
tion in this case.
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while physical surveillance following a traffic stop ob-
served Bohannon at the very doorstep of that building.
The district court dismissed the first fact for lack of
specific reference to 34 Morgan Avenue, the second fact
based on evidence of occasional inaccurate GPS place-
ments, and the third fact because the one sighting of
Bohannon at 34 Morgan Avenue did not specifically
place him in Dickson’s apartment. See United States v.
Bohannon, 67 F. Supp. 3d at 547-48. We have already
observed that such segmentation and minimization of
individual pieces of evidence fail to conform to the
principles of reason-to-believe review, see United States
v. Lovelock, 170 F.3d at 344, or even those applicable to
probable-cause determinations, see United States v.
Delossantos, 536 F.3d at 161. Indeed, the fact that Bo-
hannon was physically seen at 34 Morgan Avenue,
even once, corroborated the accuracy of GPS data that
placed him within meters of that location on several
occasions, which in turn supported an inference that,
when he spoke to a TGO confederate about going to
Morgan Avenue, he was referencing 34 Morgan. More-
over, such inferences, as well as the likelihood that Bo-
hannon’s particular interest in 34 Morgan Avenue was
the second floor apartment, are further supported by
evidence identifying the lessee of that apartment as
Shonsai Dickson, whom law enforcement officers had
linked to the TGO as the record lessee of a Trumbull
Gardens apartment out of which TGO members sold
heroin. Together, this evidence effectively contracted
the universe of likely locations for Bohannon’s cell
phone—and, therefore, Bohannon—on the morning of
December 5, 2013, from the full cell phone sector, to
the only residence in that sector with which Bohannon
was associated.

Further, only two weeks earlier, on November 26,
2013, surveillance officers observed a Toyota Camry
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registered to Dickson parked outside Bohannon’s 103
Crestview Drive home. They saw that same car parked
in front of 34 Morgan Avenue on the morning of De-
cember 5. While no one ever saw Bohannon himself
drive Dickson’s car, the November 26 sighting was per-
tinent in any event insofar as it further linked Bohan-
non and Dickson, making it likely that it was her
apartment that he had visited at 34 Morgan Avenue,
and not some other residence within that building.
Meanwhile, the December 5 sighting indicated that
someone was then within the 34 Morgan Avenue
apartment, by contrast to the surveillance observations
at 103 Crestview Drive, which indicated that Bohan-
non was not at home.

In sum, while no individual fact might be sufficient
to provide officers with reason to believe that Bohan-
non might be found in Dickson’s apartment on Decem-
ber 5, we conclude that the totality of these facts easily
elevated such a suspicion well above the level of a
hunch. Viewed in their totality and in a commonsense
manner, the record facts provided an articulable, objec-
tive reason to believe that Bohannon might then be
present in Dickson’s apartment. As already observed,
visual surveillance of 103 Crestview Drive together
with the pattern of Bohannon’s cell phone activity and
the cell-sector location of the phone at its last 2:38 a.m.
use provided reason to believe that Bohannon was not
at home. Further, facts linking Dickson to the TGO
and Bohannon to Dickson, and, specifically, to her 34
Morgan Avenue apartment, the only location within
the relevant cell sector to have figured in the TGO in-
vestigation, provided articulable, objective reason to
believe that where Bohannon was within the relevant
cell sector was in Dickson’s apartment.

Accordingly, because the law enforcement officers
who entered Dickson’s apartment on December 5,
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2013, possessed both a valid warrant for Bohannon’s
arrest and reason to believe that he was then in those
premises, Bohannon fails to demonstrate that his ar-
rest violated the Fourth Amendment. The order sup-
pressing any evidence seized incident to arrest on the
ground that officers lacked the requisite reasonable be-
lief of presence necessary to Bohannon’s lawful arrest
1s, therefore, vacated.!®

VI. Conclusion
To summarize, we conclude as follows:

1. Whether the subject of an arrest warrant is ap-
prehended in his own home or a third-party residence
where he is a guest, his Fourth Amendment privacy
rights with respect to entry of either premises are
those stated in Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, i.e.,
at the time of entry, arresting officers must possess (a)
a valid arrest warrant for the subject and (b) reason to
believe that the subject is then in the premises. The
third-party resident’s Fourth Amendment right in such
circumstances to have the entry into his home author-
1zed by a search warrant, see Steagald v. United States,

15 The government further argues that because Bohannon’s arrest
was lawful, the contemporaneous search of his pants pockets and
seizure of money therefrom, as well as the contemporaneous
search under Dickson’s bed and later seizure of drugs seen there-
under, were also lawful. See Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 327
(1990) (holding that officers may conduct protective sweep in con-
junction with lawful in-home arrest); United States v. Robinson,
414 U.S. 218, 224 (1973) (holding that officers may conduct search
incident to lawful arrest of area within arrestee’s immediate con-
trol). The district court did not itself consider whether these sei-
zures were properly deemed “incident” to a lawful arrest, having
mistakenly concluded that Payton error rendered Bohannon’s ar-
rest (and any search incident thereto) unlawful. Thus, we leave
that question for its consideration on remand.
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451 U.S. 204, does not extend to the subject of the ar-
rest warrant.

2. The totality of circumstances known to law en-
forcement authorities at the time they entered third
party Dickson’s residence to execute a valid warrant
for Bohannon’s arrest supported reason to believe that
Bohannon was then in those premises.

Accordingly, the district court’s suppression order
1s hereby VACATED to the extent it concluded that the
entry of Dickson’s apartment violated Bohannon’s
Fourth Amendment rights, and the case is REMAND-
ED for further proceedings consistent with this opin-
ion.



